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SUMMARY

In January 2008, Birmingham Archaeology carried out a desk-based assessment of Stafford
College, Earl Street, Stafford (NGR SJ 919 233). The work was commissioned in advance of a

proposed demolition and redevelopment of parts of the college. A search was made of all 
readily available published and unpublished documentary records, including maps, illustrations, 

and archaeological and geotechnical records, primarily at the Staffordshire County Records 

Office. Staffordshire Historic Environment Record was also consulted. In addition a walkover of
the study area was undertaken in order to assess the topography and the standing buildings.

The assessment revealed a site with a high potential for significant archaeological remains. The
study area was located within the medieval city walls, in close proximity to the supposed site

of a Norman Castle, and in the vicinity of a previous recent archaeological excavation which
uncovered significant well preserved archaeological deposits dating from the Anglo-Saxon

period onwards. It was therefore concluded that there was a high potential for the survival of 
medieval and post-medieval remains. Recommendations were made for future archaeological

work.
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STAFFORD COLLEGE, EARL STREET, STAFFORD:
AN ARCHAEOLOGICAL DESK-BASED ASSESSMENT 2008

1 INTRODUCTION

In January 2008 Birmingham Archaeology carried out an archaeological desk-based 

assessment of Stafford College, Earl Street, Stafford, Staffordshire (Fig. 1). The work was 

commissioned by Associated Architects on behalf of Stafford College in advance of the
proposed demolition and redevelopment of parts of the college.

The report outlines the results of the assessment, which was carried out between the 21st and

30th of January 2008, and which was prepared in accordance with the Institute of Field
Archaeologists Standard and Guidance for Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment (IFA 1999).

The assessment is in accordance with guidelines laid down in Planning Policy Guidance Note 16

(DoE 1990) and Planning Policy Guidance Note 15 (DoE 1994).

2 LOCATION AND GEOLOGY

The study area is located in the Broadeye area of Stafford. It is positioned in the northeast

corner of the historic town, which is approximately 21 kilometres south of Stoke-on-Trent, 32 
kilometres west of Burton upon Trent, and is centred on NGR SJ 919 233 (Figs. 2 and 3).

The site is situated within the former late medieval town walls and partially within the Stafford

Conservation Area (Figs. 4 and 5). To the northeast is an upstanding windmill, and to the west

lies Broad Eye Bridge and Castle Hill, the putative site of the first Stafford Castle.

According to the Solid and Drift map (British Geological Survey 1967) the underlying geology is
of Devensian Glaciofluvial Sheet Deposits of Sand and Gravel with alluvial deposits of clay, silt,

sand, and gravel located to the west of the site towards the River Sowe. Boreholes and
excavations on part of the site have described the earliest deposits as Mercian mudstone

overlain by fluvio-glacial gravels. These in turn were overlain by recent river alluvium on top of
quarternary glacial drift deposits. This is topped by loose brown gravelly silty sand containing

brick fragments. The uppermost 0.60m was of made ground comprising dark grey-brown 

sandy topsoil (Martin 2003, Price 2003).

The present character of the Stafford College site is tarmac hardstanding with a number of mid
and late 20th-century college/school buildings, including the Grade II listed Tenterbanks 

Building (1937-1946; not in the proposed development area), arranged around a central
carpark. The study area is bound by Broad Street to the north, Tenterbanks to the west, Earl

Street to the east, and Victoria Road to the south. To the southeast of the study area are two
listed late 19th/ early 20th-century historic buildings, the Hogshead Public House, and the

County Education Offices both of which formerly formed part of a technical college. The

aforementioned Tenterbanks Building is located to the southwest.

Topographically the study area is located towards the summit of a low ridge on the east side of
the River Sowe which flows northwest-southeast approximately 100m to the west. The land

slopes gently westwards down towards the river.
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3 AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

The overall objective was to define the likely extent, survival and significance of archaeological

remains and historic buildings in the area of the proposed development by collating existing
archaeological and historical information for the site, so that the archaeological implications of

the proposed work could be assessed. This information can then be used to inform the design
and decision making process.

4 METHODOLOGY

A search of all relevant and readily available published and non-published documentary

sources, including historic maps and photographs, was carried out at the Staffordshire Record
Office, the William Salt Library, Birmingham Central Library, and the Library of the University

of Birmingham. The Staffordshire Historic Environment Record, the main source of 
archaeological information for the county was also consulted.

In addition, a walkover of the study area was undertaken in order to assess the topography 

and any above ground archaeology, including standing buildings.

5 WALKOVER SURVEY

A walkover survey (Plates 1 to 9) of the study area was carried out in order to determine
current land-use and conditions, and how this may have affected any features or deposits of

historical or archaeological interest. Surface level is almost completely dominated by a tarmac
carpark interposed between mid and late 20th-century college/school buildings. The majority of 

the college buildings are of a mid to late 20th-century date apart from the Tenterbanks building
to the southwest of the study area which is of an early to mid 20th-century date. It is of red-

brown brick in a late neoclassical style with stone dressings and a parapeted roof. Also located
just outside of the study area to the southeast are the County Education Offices (constructed

1905), and the Hogshead Public House (formerly a late 19th-century technical college). To 

northeast of the study area across Broad Street is the Broadeye Windmill, and Municipal
Cottages; a terrace of red brick artisan houses constructed in 1900. The site slopes gently 

westwards towards the river which is located on the western side of Tenterbanks.

6 PREVIOUS ARCHAEOLOGICAL WORK

A search of the Staffordshire County Council Historic Environments Record has revealed that a

number of archaeological investigations have been carried out within and in the vicinity of the 
study area (Figs. 4 and 6; Table 1). The vast majority of these interventions have provided

evidence for Anglo-Saxon and late medieval activity and settlement in the Broadeye area. 

Excavations at Earl Street (across the street from the study area (SCCHER 01600) by 
Birmingham University Field Archaeology Unit uncovered the remains of a building or buildings

including beam slots, numerous pits and post holes which dated from the 12th-15th century. A
small rescue excavation carried out in the late 1960s (SCCHER 03173) revealed evidence of 

post holes and a sleeper trench with pottery including sherds of Stafford Ware dating from the 
13th century through to the post-medieval period. Subsequent excavations in 1972 at Earl 

Street (SCCHER 03180) uncovered further medieval and post-medieval pottery and two 
medieval rubbish pits. A pit uncovered to the southeast of the study area at Sir Martin Noels

Almshouses (SCCHER 03185) contained residual medieval pottery and Stafford Ware dating 

from the Anglo-Saxon and late medieval periods.
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Despite the obvious richness of the archaeological resource in and around the study area, a

trial excavation carried out by Birmingham University Field Archaeology Unit in the late 1970s
at the heart of the study area (SCCHER 03188) revealed nothing earlier than 19th-century

deposits and possible earlier truncated features leading the excavators to suggest that this
area may have been cleared sometime in that century.

More recent archaeological work has proved to shed more light on the development of this

area of Stafford; however they also have posed more questions about the nature and function
of the area in the Anglo-Saxon and later medieval periods. Documentary analysis and 

excavations carried out by Birmingham Archaeology (Krawiec 2004; Martin 2003; Cuttler et al

forthcoming; Fig. 6) in advance of a new gymnasium building at Stafford College revealed five
separate and distinct phases of activity. The primary phase was found to be late Anglo-Saxon 

in date and was characterised by a sequence of ditches aligned northeast-southwest, and were
possibly defensive in origin and may be associated with an early seigneurial enclosure. In 

Phase 2, which was dated to the early medieval period, these large ditches were cut by a ditch
on a similar alignment which is probably associated with the royal castle. The ditch was later

backfilled and cut by pits associated with later buildings, whilst a substantial, rectilinear pit in
the north-eastern corner of the site may also date to the later medieval period. Phase 4, which

dated between the 15th and 18th centuries, was typified by pitting, a drainage channel and a 

collapsed brick and tile structure, possibly a kiln. In the 18th and 19th centuries which were
represented by the penultimate phase buildings were constructed along the line of the former

Cherry Street. The final phase was made up of 20th century disturbance which consisted of
services and manholes.

The Anglo-Saxon phase (1) may have been associated with the Aethelflaedan burh, which

despite being truncated indicated that it could have been wide, flat-bottomed, and stepped in
profile, and were probably defensive in nature. An alternative theory proffered is that the fact

that the ditches curve towards the west suggests that they focus on a point to the northwest of 

their location, and could be related to the castle site, or a medieval town ditch. However, it is
also argued that these ditches could represent a construction that lay outside the burh such as

a pre-Conquest seigneurial enclosure (Cuttler et al forthcoming). Further ditches found in this
phase “seem most readily consistent with the presumed site of the royal castle” (ibid).

A subsequent watching brief at the New Skills Centre at Stafford College in 2006 (SCCHER

51590) uncovered a substantial medieval pit containing 12th and 13th century pottery, and 
noted that the state of preservation of the pit and cartographic evidence suggests that other 

medieval features may survive at similar depths in the vicinity.

Previous archaeological interventions have illuminated the obvious significance of this area 

throughout the medieval period; however archaeological work has not yet provided a definitive
account of the function, role, and character, of the Broadeye area of Stafford. If anything it has

posed more questions than it has answered about an area which may have been integral to the 
development of Stafford.

7 ARCHAEOLOGICAL AND HISTORICAL CONTEXT

The Stafford area has a rich and diverse history dating back to prehistoric times. However it 

would appear that it wasn’t until the early medieval/ Anglo Saxon period that any permanent
settlement was constructed in the town.

Birmingham Archaeology 3



Stafford College, Earl Street, Stafford: An Archaeological Desk-based Assessment 2008 

7.1 Prehistoric

Mesolithic flint tools dating from 5000BC have been uncovered in Stafford at Tipping Street, 
Mount Street, and Broad Street, the latter of which lies to the north of the study area (Carver

1981). In addition several barrow sites have been identified in the surrounding countryside; 
however none have been located in close proximity to the modern town. There is no definitive

evidence for any further prehistoric activity or settlement at Stafford until at least the Iron
Age. In 1976 a putative Iron Age causeway was unearthed at Queensway c.800m northeast of 

the study area (Greenslade 1984). No evidence of prehistoric activity or settlement has been 
found at the study area.

7.2 Roman
Several small sherds of pottery dating from the Roman-British period have been found within

the old walled area of Stafford, whilst a Roman coin of Faustina Junior (SCCHER 2196; not
illustrated) was unearthed at Forebridge to the north of the study area. However, nothing has

been uncovered which would indicate the presence of a Roman settlement at Stafford. The
nearest known Roman settlement to Stafford was at Penkridge c. 10 km to the south. There is

no evidence for Roman activity or Roman finds at the study area.

7.3 Anglo-Saxon

Continuous settlement began in Stafford in the early 10th-century. The Anglo-Saxon Chronicle
records that Stafford was founded as an Anglo Saxon burh (SMR 00765) in AD 913 by ‘the

Lady of the Mercians’ Aethelflaed the daughter of King Alfred. Prior to this Stafford was located
within the Danelaw. It is likely that this burh included the construction of a turf bank and ditch

with palisade or wall surrounding the urban centre. By the 11th century Stafford had developed
into a thriving commercial centre, a shire, and a market town, with a mint, and a pottery 

industry focused to the southeast of the peninsula between Eastgate and Clarke Street (Carver
1981; Middlefell 2000). The exact circuit of the burh is as yet unclear. 

7.4 Medieval
By the time of the Domesday Book (1086) Stafford had become a county town and was

described as being surrounded by an earthen bank with a wooden palisade. The Domesday
Book also records a borough and burgesses, and in 1206, a Royal Charter granted it free 

borough status. Suburbs developed to the north and south of the Domesday settlement
nucleus which consisted of 128 habitable houses within the city walls (Middlefell 2000). These

walls, which consisted of both stone and wood sections, were later extended to encompass
outlying settled areas (Wilkinson 2002). One small section of these walls survives to the 

southeast of the town. Historic maps and accounts show that the current study area lay within 

these walls (Fig. 6).

The location of the aforementioned castle has fuelled much academic debate and discussion.
The first mention of a castle in Stafford was in 1070 when King William, returning from his 

infamous ‘harrying of the north’, “ built a castle at Chester and another at Stafford on his 
return, garrisoning both and supplying them with abundant provisions” (Oderic Vitalis ii, BK IV, 

198-200). What is less clear, however, is the location of this castle, which is further confused 
by the presence of the current extant Stafford Castle to the southwest of the town. The merits

and demerits of the various debates have been discussed in Cuttler et al (forthcoming). What

is concluded from this is that Stafford would seem to have had both a royal and a baronial 
castle in the 11th century, both quite probably in existence before the Domesday survey was

undertaken. In addition it was argued that it was not improbable that the royal castle was 
located within the town walls, “as were many royal castles in the early days of the Conquest”

(Cuttler et al forthcoming). While the location of such a royal castle within the town walls is
still unknown, the authors do note that it is likely that the castle is likely to have been located

within the defences. This is partly because “such locations impacted upon the majority of the
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population in an area, but also because as royal towns, the building of a royal castle was less

likely to infringe on others rights of lordship” (ibid). The authors have also shown how
documentary, topographic, onomastic, and cartographic evidence points to this site being 

located at Broadeye in the vicinity of the study area. Historic documents hint at this location, 
cartographic sources depict the placenames Old Castle Hill, Castle Hill, and Castle Town in the

area, whilst other possible location theories were all but ruled out. An examination of further
historic documents and records shows how the castle fell into disuse, was repaired, and then 

utilised as Stafford Gaol in the late 13th and 14th centuries, a fact which is not inconsistent with
the ceramic evidence from the Birmingham Archaeology excavation (Martin 2003), which 

suggests a downturn in the nature of occupation at this time.

7.5 Post-medieval

As the cartographic evidence reveals (section 8 below), the area was assuming a ‘built-up’
character from at least the early 17th century. At this stage it was sparsely developed and on 

the periphery of the urban area. It is unclear what the functional nature of this area was at this
time; however placename evidence such as Tanter Bank (modern day Tenterbanks; origin of 

the phrase ‘on tenterhooks’) suggests that parts of Broadeye, particularly towards the river,
were characterised by the processing of wool.  By the late 18th century the area had become 

much more densely developed, and was very much an integral part of the town. The windmill

(SCCHER 03279), standing to the northeast of the study area was constructed in 1796 using
materials from the demolished 16th century Shire Hall, and still contains Elizabethan carved

timbers within. In addition to this it is reputed to be standing on the site of a former Anglo-
Norman castle. The only surviving evidence for such a location is onomastic in character with 

the mill standing on Castlehill in an area known as Castle Town.

The Broad Eye area continued to develop and expand at pace. In 1831 a gasworks was
constructed to the north of the study area and steadily expanded around the east bank of the

River Sowe and Broad Eye Bridge further adding to the working class nature of the district, a

characteristic Broad Eye has had for much of its existence (Dudley 1998). The gasworks was
closed-down in 1964 with most of its structures demolished by 1970. 

SCCHER

No.
Name

Location Centroid
Monument Type 

Date

14104 Tenterbanks
Buildings, Stafford

College

SJ 9194 2312 Listed College building
used as military hospital

in WWII 

1937

14079 County Education

Offices, Earl Street,

Stafford

SJ 9202 2315 Listed former technical

college

Late 19th century

51590 Pit, New Skills Centre,

Stafford College

SJ 9188 2322 Pit and pottery 12th-13th centuries

03173 Building and pottery,

Tenterbanks, Stafford

SJ 919 231 Post hole and beam slot Later medieval

03180 Pottery finds, Earl

Street, Stafford

SJ 920 231 Find spot Later and post

medieval

08342 Dale Monument,

Church of St. Mary,

Stafford

SJ 9205 2315 Commemorative

Monument

19th century

08343 Fry Headstone,

Church of St. Mary,
Stafford

SJ 9205 2317 Headstone 19th century
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SCCHER

No.
Name

Location Centroid
Monument Type 

Date

03279 Windmill, Broadeye,
Stafford

SJ 9181 2325 Extant windmill 1796

0767 Stafford Town Wall Linear/dispersed SJ
92SW

Later medieval defences Later medieval

0766 Stafford Castle (Motte
and Bailey; site

uncertain)

SJ 918 232 Motte and Bailey Castle
(possible site of) 

Later medieval

01600 Beam Slots, Pits and

Postholes, Earl

Street, Stafford

SJ 92030 23210 Building, beam slot, post

hole, pit

Later medieval

00774 St Bertelin's Church,

Stafford (not
illustrated)

SJ 9211 2319 10th / 12th century

church, cemetery, 16th

century school (site of) 

900  to 1199AD,

16th century

00780 Preaching Cross, Earl
Street, Stafford

SJ9203 2312 Preaching cross (site of) 16th-century

03188 Possible Truncated
Features, College of

Further Education,

Stafford

SJ 9194 2318 Subsurface deposit 19th century
clearance

14108 Stafford Borough War

Memorial, Victoria
Square, Stafford

SJ 9203 2312 War memorial c.1920

40158 Victoria Park, Stafford SJ 9196 2302 Botanical park 1908

Table 1 

8 CARTOGRAPHIC REPRESENTATIONS OF THE STUDY AREA

Stafford has been represented cartographically since the early 17th-century. These early maps
provide us with an insight into the use, function, and development of the study area. John 

Speed’s map of 1610 (Fig. 7) is highly stylised and vague. However it does show the extent of 
the town walls, the North Gate, and Broad Eye Bridge. The Broad Eye area appears to be 

sparsely developed, which is probably due to the fact that it lies on the outskirts of the town
centre. The study area is divided into two large plots by a southeast-northwest aligned road 

with houses lining the extreme east side, along sections of the dividing road, and along the 

road to the north (presumably Broad Street). Tenterbanks, which is present to the west of the
study area, is referred to as Tanter Bank.

William Yates’s Map of Staffordshire of 1775 (Fig. 8) was produced on too small a scale to gain

an appreciation and understanding of the study area at this time. The map delineates the main
streets of the town and again the extent of the town wall. It would appear that Stafford had

undergone little expansion in the intervening period between Speed’s map and Yates’s map. 

Whilst William Yates’s map lacked detail, the estate map of land belonging to William

Jerningham which was produced just thirteen years later in 1788 (Fig. 9) is also stylised but is
much more comprehensive. This shows the study area to have been divided into irregular 

curving boundaries, possibly representing drainage channels; as they appear to join the River
Sowe to the west. Broad Eye is represented as an area/district, rather than as a street, and 
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encompasses much of the western part of the town, a large portion of which is the study area.

It is obvious that the study area has seen more development since Speed’s map 170 years 
earlier, with all of the bounding roads and the now removed dividing road lined with buildings.

The First Edition Ordnance Survey Map of 1880 (Fig. 10) delineates the built up character of 

the study area at this time. The dividing street has been named Cherry Street, and a further 
east-west running street, Queen Street, joins this in the northeast quarter of the study area. It 

is difficult to ascertain the functional character of the area from this map. Spatially the area
has been divided into plots of land radiating away from the roads. Buildings line the streets

with plots of open land to the rear. This pattern suggests a domestic function with gardens or

small industrial units with yards to the rear. The likelihood is that it is a mix of both functions,
particularly if examined in the context of the proximity of a gasworks to the north of the study

area. Castlehill is shown to the northeast of the study area and is marked Site of Castle.

There were few major changes to the study area by the time of the Second Edition Ordnance
Survey Map of 1901 (Fig. 11). New buildings had been constructed at the extreme southwest

of the study area and some of the previously empty plots had been infilled. Perhaps the most
significant change in the Stafford College area at this time was the construction of the

Technical School to the southeast of the study area, thus becoming the naissance for an

educational function in the area which continues up to the current day.

By the time of the 3rd Edition Ordnance Survey Map of 1923 (Fig. 12) a school had been built
at the western edge of the study area and the current County Education Offices had been built

to the north of the technical school. Cherry Street and Queen Street are still present.

One major change is seen on the 1938 edition of the Ordnance Survey Map (Fig. 13), the 
current Tenterbank Building has been built or is in the process of being constructed. By the 

1973 1:10000 Ordnance Survey Map (Fig. 14) it seems that Cherry Street and Queen Street 

had been removed along with the buildings that lined them. The study area seems to have
been extensively cleared and built over with college buildings. The area to the west of Broad

Street (formerly Duke Street) near the Windmill had also been cleared.

9 CONCLUSIONS

The study area is located in close proximity to significant, well preserved medieval archaeology

and in an location which may provide a much better understanding of the development of

Stafford in this and subsequent periods.

Subsurface Archaeology
Previous archaeological work at or in close proximity to the study area has uncovered

significant Anglo Saxon/medieval archaeological deposits/remains and clearly there is a high 
probability of archaeological remains fairly close to the surface across much of the 

development area. These previous works have seemed to have posed rather than answered
more questions about the history of this part of Stafford and of the history of the historic town.

The construction of domestic structures in the 18th and 19th centuries and of educational

buildings in the 20th century may mean that the underlying archaeology is truncated as 
previous trial trenches in the study area have shown (SCCHER 03188), however recent 

excavations in the vicinity of the study area by Birmingham Archaeology (Martin 2003) have
shown that these earlier deposits/features have the potential to survive despite being

truncated and overlain by post medieval cellars. With this in mind it is clear that islands of
archaeology may survive at this site despite later intrusion, development and truncation. It is
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difficult to pinpoint zones of archaeological potential as there is a similar potential across the

entire study area.

Standing Buildings
The study area is in the curtilage of two Grade II listed buildings which lie within Stafford

Conservation Area; the Tenterbanks building, and the County Education Offices. Grade II listed
buildings are buildings of special interest, and warrant every effort being made to preserve

them. It is also important to preserve the context of such buildings, particularly in their
immediate environs or curtilage. As the study area is to the rear of these structures, and 

already covered in multi-storeyed college structures, it does not seriously impinge this context; 

however it is important that any future building design is of high quality and does not detract
from the significance of these listed buildings. Any future decisions on this will be made by the

local Conservation Officer.
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